### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC 10-1830

### TROY MERCK, JR. Appellant, v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee,

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 6<sup>TH</sup> JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar no. 0558893 Assistant CCC

JAMES VIGGIANO Florida Bar No. 0715336 Assistant CCC

ALI ANDREW SHAKOOR Florida Bar No. 669830 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL -MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544 813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### I. <u>PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

On November 14, 1991, Defendant Troy Merck Jr. was charged by indictment in Pinellas County with the first-degree murder of James Newton. A trial held before Judge Luten in November of 1992 ended in a hung jury. After a second jury trial held before Judge Luten in September, 1993, Mr. Merck was found guilty as charged and sentenced to death. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction, but reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty trial. See <u>Merck v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1995).

In July, 1997, a resentencing proceeding was held before Judge Khouzam. The jury recommended a death sentence and in September, 1997, Judge Khouzam imposed the death penalty. The Florida Supreme Court reversed the death sentence. See <u>Merck v. State</u>, 763 So.2d 295 (Fla. 2000).

Merck's third resentencing proceeding, held in March of 2004, resulted in a jury recommendation of death by a nine-to-three vote. The trial judge held a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on March 28, 2004. The trial court filed its sentencing order on August 6, 2004. A timely appeal was filed and the Florida Supreme Court denied relief. See <u>Merck v. State</u>, 975 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 2007). The United States Supreme Court Cert. Petition was denied on October 6, 2008.

Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region was appointed to represent Merck in postconviction proceedings on February 27, 2008. Merck filed his motion for postconviction relief on September 2, 2009 and the State filed its response on October 30, 2009. The court conducted an evidentiary hearing on claims Ia, Ic, and II of Merck's motion for postconviction relief on July 20-July 21, 2010. The postconviction court entered its order denying relief on August 27, 2010. A timely notice of appeal was filed on September 17, 2010. On September 2, 2010 the Florida Supreme Court noticed all parties that Petitioner (Troy Merck) had filed a petition seeking to invoke all writs jurisdiction. The Respondent was requested to serve a response to the petition on or before October 4, 2010. Respondent, Stephen Ake filed his response on September 30, 2010. On March 31, 2011, the Florida Supreme Court denied petitioner Troy Merck's petition for all writs. This appeal of the evidentiary hearing and subsequent denial of Mr. Merck's 3.851 motion follows.

### **EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

#### A. TESTIMONY OF: Fredric Zinober

Fred Zinober represented Troy Merck during his 1993 guilt phase trial. (PCR Vol. VI p. 763). his co-counsel was James Martin. (PCR Vol. VI p. 764). Regarding trial strategy, Mr. Zinober wanted to create a reasonable doubt, and that the killer very well could have been Neil Thomas. (PCR Vol. VI p. 765). He remembers pointing out during trial that Katherine Sullivan described the killer as wearing khaki pants, and pointed out the fact the State established Troy Merck as wearing different pants. (PCR Vol. VI p. 766) Mr. Zinober established that Troy Merck had a large tattoo on his arm, where as Neil Thomas had no tattoos; which better matched Ms. Sullivan's description. (PCR Vol. VI p. 767). Similarly, he recalls pointing out that Neil Thomas called the victim a pussy. <u>Id</u>.

Mr.Zinober referred to stating, now let's get really to what the defense is in

this case" after finishing his part of his closing argument about voluntary intoxication. (PCR Vol. VI p. 768). He did not clarify during the charge conference that voluntary intoxication was merely one of the defenses. (PCR Vol. VI p. 770). He confirmed that he could have objected to clarify that voluntary intoxication was "a" as opposed to "the" defense in the trial. (PCR Vol. VI p. 771).

Fred Zinober believes he was aware of Dr. John Brigham during the time of the original trial, due to his failed attempt to use him in a prior case. (PCR Vol. VI p. 772). He never contacted Dr. Brigham about the Troy Merck case, though the factual pattern was different from his prior case. (PCR Vol. VI p. 773). He doesn't know if Dr. Brigham could have helped Troy's case. (PCR Vol. VI p. 774).

Mr. Zinober considers the Henry Brommilsick testimony to be one of the highlights of the case from the defense's perspective. <u>Id</u>. During his trial cross-examination of Mr. Brommelsick, he got Mr. Brommelsick to confirm that if someone pounded their hands on the roof of the car on the passenger side, and said "throw me the keys", that would have been Neil Thomas. (PCR Vol. VI p. 774-775). The trial testimony of Henry Brommelsick was admitted into evidence after Mr. Zinober's identification. (PCR Vol. VI p. 777).

#### **B. TESTIMONY OF**: John C. Brigham, Ph.D.

Dr. Brigham is a retired emeritus professor at Florida State University. (PCR

Vol. VI p. 797). He has a bachelor's degree from Duke, plus masters and doctorate degrees from the University of Colorado. <u>Id</u>. He had done research and published about 55 articles on the subject of eyewitness memory, and gave presentations in the U.S., Canada, Italy, Australia, Scotland and Whales. (PCR Vil. VI p. 798). He also taught seminars and workshops to judges in Florida about eyewitness evidence. <u>Id</u>. He was qualified as an expert in Florida's courts prior to 1993. (PCR Vol. VI p. 799). The post-conviction court found that Dr. Brigham was qualified as an expert in eyewitness memory. (PCR Vol. VI p. 800).

#### C. TESTIMONY OF: Henry Brommelsick

Mr Brommelsick worked for the Pinellas County Sheriff's office for approximately 30 years as a fingerprint examiner. (PCR Vol. VI p. 823). He was able to describe in great detail what creates a latent fingerprint. (PCR Vol. VI p. 824-825). He doesn't think it's possible for two people to share the same fingerprint. (PCR Vol. VI p. 825-826). Mr. Brommelsick rolled the fingerprints of Troy Merck and Neil Thomas prior to the 1993 trial, after they were afforded to him by fingerprint technician James Haims. (PCR Vol. VI p. 826).

Henry Brommelsick identified the 1993 trial exhibit 20-E as a fingerprint belonging to Neil C. Thomas, and it was located on the exterior passenger side window. (PCR Vol. Vi p. 827). Exhibit 20-F from the 1993 trial was identified as

a right index fingerprint belonging to Neil C. Thomas found at the top roof slash near the car's passenger side. (PCR Vol. VI p. 828). Mr. Brommelsick identified exhibit 20-H from the 1993 trial as a palm print belonging to Neil C. Thomas which was located on the passenger side roof. (PCR Vol. VI p. 829). All three exhibits were admitted into evidence. (PCR Vol. VI p. 831). Mr. Brommelsick was able and willing to testify truthfully at the last penalty phase hearing during March of 2004. (PCR Vol. VI p. 831-833).

### **D. TESTIMONY OF:** Dr. Michael Scott Maher M.D.

Dr. Michael Maher was qualified as a medical doctor with an expertise in forensic psychiatry. (PCR Vol. VI p. 847). Dr Maher testified that he had known Troy Merck in his professional capacity for almost ten years. (PCR Vol. VI p. 847). Dr. Maher had prepared Mr. Merck's case in 1992 but had not testified due to a hung jury in the guilt phase of Merck's original trial. (PCR Vol. VI p. 849). The Public Defender gave Maher records related to Merck's school background, juvenile records, which included some law enforcement records, medical records and the police reports related to the offense. (PCR Vol. VI p. 849).

Dr. Maher testified that Mr. Merck was raised by a mother who didn't want him and tried to abort him by drinking alcohol to a significant degree and also specifically drank turpentine in order to induce an abortion while she was pregnant with him. (PCR Vol. VI p. 850). Dr. Maher opined that Mrs. Merck was herself, mentally ill. He based his opinion on conversations with Merck's sister, Merck himself, and other records that referred to her actions. Dr. Maher opined that the severity of her behavior disturbance is consistent with an individual who is sometimes out of touch with reality. That is psychotic and would be typical of somebody who suffered from schizophrenia. One of the things that is a credible part of the family history is that she beat Mr. Merck relentlessly when he was a child, a small child and a parent in touch with reality typically doesn't do that. (PCR Vol. VI p. 850-852). Dr. Maher defined ptosis as a drooping of the eyelid and after looking at Mr. Merck, opined that Mr. Merck did indeed have ptosis.

(PCR Vol. VI p. 852).

Dr. Maher testified that although there are a variety of things that cause ptosis, one of the things that causes it is fetal alcohol effect. Dr. Maher then testified that alcohol and turpentine would have a toxic effect on the neurological development. (PCR Vol. VI p. 852). Mrs. Merck also abused over-the-counter sedatives to excess. (PCR Vol. VI p. 853). As a result of this pre-natal abuse, Dr. Maher testified that there is substantial evidence of physical and physically documented brain damage. (PCR Vol. VI p. 853). Dr. Maher testified that the pattern of symptoms that Merck described in his life related to impulsiveness and brain scans that show abnormalities in metabolic processing in the frontal lobe, the part of the brain that is particularly related to judgment and impulsiveness management and control, correlate, that is, they come together in a way which is clinically relevant and one supports the other in indicating that there is fundamental physical dysfunction in the frontal lobes of the brain. (PCR Vol. VI p. 854).

To confirm his suspicions, Dr. Maher consulted with one Dr. Wood. Wood was an expert in reading brain scans. He looked at the case and concluded there was evidence of frontal lobe damage. (PCR Vol. VI p. 854-855). Dr. Maher opined that the primary causes of the brain damage are likely to be en utero, toxic effects on the brain, physical trauma during childhood and during development, involuntary exposure to alcohol as a young child; that is Mr. Merck was given alcohol as a sedative. (PCR Vol. VI p. 855). Dr. Maher further testified that fetal alcohol syndrome makes someone more likely to become an alcoholic later in life and that Mr. Merck was and is an alcoholic but because Merck is incarcerated, he is not drinking alcohol at this time. (PCR Vol. VI p. 856-857).

In addition to a craving for alcohol, other character traits and behavior traits exhibited by alcoholics such as Mr. Merck include: They are dismissive of social conventions and rules. They pursue alcohol and activities related to alcohol, contrary to reasonable social exportations. They drive when they are drunk. They fight when they are intoxicated. They disregard other people's feelings when they

are intoxicated. They take advantage of people when they are intoxicated.

Typically alcoholics engage in a pattern of consistent low level antisocial behavior.

(PCR Vol. VI p. 857).

At the evidentiary hearing the following questions were asked and answered

by Dr. Michael Maher:

Q. All right. Now, have you diagnosed Troy Merck to have any kinds of psychological disorder?

- A. Yes, I have.
- Q. What does he have?

A. Fetal alcohol effect I think is the primary diagnosis, and brain impairment secondary to multiple causes, including Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, fetal alcohol effect, alcoholism, are the three primary disorders that are most relevant. (PCR Vo. VI p. 857-858).

Dr Maher testified that as a result of the brain damage Mr. Merck sustained en utero, and the result of the abuse that Merck suffered, both the physical abuse and the emotional and psychological component of the abuse during childhood and adolescence, and partly as a result of Merck's own alcohol consumption as an adolescent, Mr. Merck also suffers from Attention Deficit Disorder. (PCR Vol. VI p. 858-859). ADD is a disorder of brain functioning. It functions on a more fundamental neurological level. It is not preventable. Rather, it is treatable and manageable. (PCR Vol. VI p. 859). Dr. Maher also opined that the regular beatings which Mr. Merck suffered as a child would cause brain damage and that since Mr. Merck was a child at the time of the beatings, his cortex was not fully developed and Merck was particularly vulnerable to brain damage most specifically, frontal lobe damage. (PCR Vol. VI p. 860-861). Based on eyewitness accounts of Mr. Merck's alcohol consumption at the time of the offense; Merck was "substantially intoxicated beyond the legal limit in the state of Florida for driving."

(PCR Vol VI p. 863).

At the evidentiary hearing the following questions were asked and answered

regarding statutory mitigation:

Q. Doctor, are you familiar with Statutory Mitigator Section 921.141, Subsection (b) Subsection (g), " The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance"?

- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you believe back in 1992 and do you believe now that this mitigator applies to Mr. Merck?
- A. Yes.
- Q. –or not?
- A. I believe that it does apply to him.
- Q. Doctor, what do you base your opinion on?

A. It's based on the totality of the assessment, much of which has been summarized today in my testimony. Both related to very long-term issues of impairment which I believe are related to the mental and emotional disorder and very short-term issues. So the long-term issues would include the en utero abnormal brain development. The short-term issues would acute intoxication in that parking lot on that night.

There are many things that happened in between that time period, being beaten by his mother, the impulsivity disorder, the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. All of those things are a part of the mental and emotional disorder, and it's relevant-its relevancy in that particular circumstance is that he was in an impulsive environment, intoxicated, and around other people who were intoxicated.

Q. Doctor, the instruction reads extreme mental or emotional disturbance. In other words, it's conjunctive, correct, sir?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you give me an example of the mental disturbance as it applies to Mr. Merck?

A. I would describe the mental disturbance more in terms of the things that can be documented with evidence of physical brain damage. The frontal lobe abnormality for example. I would describe the emotional factors more related to things that are relational, his horrid upbringing and relationship with his mother and being beaten by her. Although those things also create physical changes in the brain, I would describe that more in the emotional realm.

Q. So he has both?

A. Yes.

Q. Brain damage and emotional disturbance?

A. Yes.

Q. How about, Doctor, are you familiar with Statutory Mitigator 921.141, Subsection (6), Subsection (f), "The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his or her conduct or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired"? Are you familiar with that instruction, sir?

A. Yes

Q. Do you believe - did you believe back in 1992 and do

you believe now that this mitigator applies to Mr. Merck or not?

A. Yes, I believe it does.

Q. Oh, by the way, just – when is the last time you saw him, meaning Mr. Merck?

A. Several months ago. Maybe – I think it was in the fall of 2010 (sic).

Q. You believe that his judgment was substantially impaired. That's just the alcohol consumption or was it something else?

A. No, it was the entire - as I said, it is the entire history going back to before he was born. The problem is he brings forward every deficit, every problem, every lack of normal brain development, into those moments that were that occurred prior to and during the time of this offense. So all of that information is relevant to his impulsive, reactive, aggressive actions that occurred at the time of this offense.

Q. So, Doctor, just because this man may have had five or six beers and a couple of shots, you're not going to say that that's the only thing that caused him to slaughter an innocent human being?

A. I do not believe that the acute intoxication alone even begins to describe the mental state and picture of Mr. Merck on that occasion. (PCR Vol. VI p. 864-868).

Dr. Maher was aware that Mr. Merck was given the MMPI on two separate

occasions; both by psychologists. (PCR Vol. VI p. 868).

When asked about the MMPI, th e following questions were asked and

answered:

Q. Okay. Can you tell the Court about the MMPI? What does it do? How does it work? What does it measure?

A. The MMPI is a list of about 570 true/false questions. It has a long history. It is utilized to develop a personality profile of an individual and is statistically validated to correlate with certain clinical conclusions. It is, at best, about 70 percent accurate. It does not have specific diagnostic validity in the present diagnostic scheme, and it is widely used by psychologists.

Q. At a Spencer hearing, sir, if Dr. Slomin opined - did you read that testimony?

A. I did.

Q. If Dr. Slomin opined that Mr. Merck is suffering from an antisocial personality disorder as a, quote, basic Disregard for others rights and liberties usually beginning at or about the age of 15, does that characterization in any way explain how this disregard for other's rights and liberties usually beginning at or about the age of 15 occurs?

A. No, it doesn't. It's a description of behavior, not an explanation of cause –

Q. Not what causes this behavior?

A. That's correct.

Q. In other words, Doctor, would you agree that or would you not agree that people don't wake up and say, you know, I think I'm going to get some juvenile priors at the age of 15, and for the rest of my life I'm going to exhibit a complete disregard for other person's feelings?

A. I do not believe that's the way it works, no.

Q. What is co-morbidity, sir?

A. Co-morbity is a phrase that's used to describe the pattern in medical illnesses of one illness coexisting with another illness. It happens in heart disease and lung disease and brain disease and in a variety of other conditions.

Q. So the fact that Ms. Merck tried to abort Troy Merck, an attempt which resulted in the ptosis and fetal alcohol effect, that she beat Troy Merck about the head as a child, that she fed him - involuntarily dosed him with alcohol to keep him quiet, could that have caused Troy Merck's disregard for other's rights?

A. Yes, absolutely.

Q. How about the Attention Deficit Disorder? Could that cause Troy Merck to disregard other people's rights?A. It - indeed, it can. And I'm certainly not saying it

does, or the association is very strong in the absence of other factors. But impulsivity is a key element in both of those disorders, and it exists, indeed, in Mr. Merck.

Q. Doctor, can you tell the Court a little bit about post traumatic stress, what causes it?

A. Post traumatic stress or Post Traumatic Stress Syndrome is a disorder of brain functioning which is triggered by overwhelming stress either that occurs on a short-term, sometimes even one-time basis, or over a long term. It's a disorder which fundamentally changes brain functioning with regard to issues of fear, anxiety, danger, and impulsiveness. And it exists in adults as well as children.

Q. Doctor, is it safe to say that the earlier the stress occurs in a person's life - say, like constant beatings as a child - the more difficult it would be for a person to cope with post traumatic stress? In other words, sir, if a child had suffered abuse over a long period of time, would that child have a more difficult time understanding the concept of post traumatic stress than would an adult combat veteran?

A. Yes.

Q. In other words, you don't have to - well, sir, did post traumatic stress come to light at the conclusion of the Vietnam War?

A. Not exactly. It really came to light at the conclusion of, or in the modern medical sense, after World War I, and it was called shellshock, and it was originally –

Q. World War II it was called battle fatigue?

A. And it was called battle fatigue after World War II. And our last 40-year understanding of it was especially focused on Vietnam vets. But also at that time there was a developing understanding that it was not simply a military disorder. It was a disorder related to trauma. And there is a huge literature going back 30 years documenting that it's a disorder which can begin in childhood where there is childhood trauma. Mr. Merck is a perfect example of that.

Q. How does he exhibit the traits of post traumatic stress?

A. He has very poor relationships with people. He attempts to be – was when he was free and has remained to some extent isolated in his relationships. He has a pattern of anxiety and fearfulness which is consistent with believing and feeling on a deep emotional level that everything in the world is dangerous and his well being is constantly threatened. This is something that is absolutely central to the diagnosis in abused children and combat veterans.

Q. What is the fight or flight impulse, sir?

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