IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TROY MERCK, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1830 L.T. No. CRC 91-16659 CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ISSUE III

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED MERCK'S CLAIM THAT RESENTENCING PENLATY PHASE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PROFFER TESTIMONY THAT MERCK WAS A MINOR PARTICIPANT IN THE MURDER.

In his third claim, Merck asserts that his penalty phase counsel was ineffective for failing to proffer testimony that Merck was a minor participant in the murder and that the actual killer was his companion, Neil Thomas. Collateral counsel acknowledges that at a motion in limine hearing on March 1, 2004, resentencing counsel Schwartzberg argued to the court that he should be allowed to introduce evidence to the jury that there was "contradictory evidence" as to the identity of the individual who caused the death of Mr. Newton. (ROA Addendum 618-28). Defense counsel indicated that he wanted to introduce evidence that Neil Thomas provoked the confrontation; supplied alcohol to Merck on the night of the incident; Katherine Sullivan's description of the clothing worn by the to clothing worn by Neil killer was similar Thomas; fingerprint evidence was consistent with Neil Thomas' prints. (ROA Addendum 618-24). The State noted that the same motion had been made prior to Merck's second sentencing hearing, rejected by the trial court, and that ruling was not overturned on appeal.

After hearing argument from both sides regarding defense counsel's motion, the court denied the motion in Defense counsel Schwartzberg inquired whether the court's ruling precluded him from putting forth evidence in support of the statutory mitigator that Merck was a minor participant. (ROA Addendum 628-29). The court responded that defense counsel could not introduce evidence regarding this mitigator because Merck was the only person charged and convicted, and thus, his participation could not be minor. (ROA Addendum 628-30). Schwartzberg responded that, even though Merck was the only person charged and convicted, it should not preclude him from presenting evidence the mitigator of to support The court again denied counsel's motion and participation. noted that allowing such evidence would indirectly allow Merck to relitigate the issue of guilt. (ROA Addendum 632-33).

On March 19, 2004, after the evidence had been presented to the penalty phase jury, the court initiated the jury instruction

It is well established that residual or lingering doubt is inappropriate mitigation evidence at the penalty phase. See Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1152 (Fla. 2006); England v. State, 940 So. 2d 389, 406 (Fla. 2006); Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 40 (Fla. 2003). Thus, the trial judge properly excluded evidence regarding Merck's theory that Neil Thomas committed the murder. Likewise, Merck's attempt to introduce lingering doubt evidence under the guise of "minor participation" mitigation was also properly excluded as Neil Thomas was not an accomplice or codefendant in the instant crime.

conference. (ROA 2d Addendum V3:542-44). The court asked Schwartzberg to confirm that only two mitigators would be presented to the jury; one being Merck's age at the time of the offense, and the second being any other aspect of Merck's character, record or background, or any other circumstance of the offense. (ROA 2d Addendum V3:542-44). Counsel responded by stating the following:

That is based on the Court's ruling, Judge. It is our position previously, as I have stated, that without the evidence that I will be proffering to the Court, after we are completed about this substantial participation of another and that Mr. Merck was not the person who actually committed the crime based on other factors which this Court has precluded from being there.

(ROA 2d Addendum V3:543).

On appeal to this Court, Merck argued that the trial court erred in excluding this evidence, and this Court rejected his argument and stated:

In this claim, Merck argues that the trial court erred in excluding defense evidence regarding the circumstances of the murder. He claims that the trial court improperly excluded testimony that would tend to show that he did not fatally stab the victim and that his involvement in the crime was minor.

The record reflects that except for the testimony identified below that was not proffered, the allegedly excluded testimony was presented to the jury. Contrary to Merck's argument on appeal, the jury heard that Neil Thomas illegally bought alcoholic drinks for an underage Merck on the night of the murder. Thomas testified that he, not Merck, called the victim a "pussy" and that the victim's subsequent refusal to

fight may have been perceived by Merck disrespectful and annoying. Thomas testified that he drove Merck away from the crime scene and that they changed clothes so that they would be less recognizable, hid from the police in some bushes, and played pool together later that night. Finally, Thomas testified that he had not been charged with any crime regarding Newton's murder, denied being preferential treatment, and explained the prosecuting attorney's role in and the circumstances surrounding his release after turning himself in to police in 1997 on a 1994 arrest warrant.

Merck argues that the trial court excluded potentially exculpatory testimony by a fingerprint examiner and evidence that eyewitness Katherine description of stabber's Sullivan's the clothing matched Thomas's clothing, not Merck's. The record does not contain a proffer of such testimony. Thus, we deny Merck's claim.[FN4] See Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990) ("A proffer is necessary to preserve a claim such as this because an appellate will about court not otherwise speculate admissibility of such evidence.").

[FN4. The trial judge initially denied Merck's motion in limine regarding the foregoing evidence because he found that the prior trial judge's denial of the same motion during the first resentencing became the "law of the case" after it was upheld on appeal by this Court. This lawof-the-case reasoning was erroneous. First, Merck's appeal from his first resentencing, this Court declined to reach Merck's claim that the trial court erred in excluding evidence regarding suspect because the Court another reversible error on another ground. Merck II, 763 297. Second, this 2d at Court consistently applied the "clean slate" rule to resentencing proceedings. Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 408 (Fla. 1992). A resentencing is to proceed in every respect as an entirely new proceeding. A trial judge is to properly apply the law during the new penalty phase and is not bound in proceedings after remand by a prior at 409 (citing Spaziano v. legal error. Id.

State, 433 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1983), aff'd, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S. Ct. 3154, 82 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1984)). However, the evidence was either admitted or not proffered, and therefore the trial court's erroneous law-of-the-case ruling was harmless error.]

Merck v. State, 975 So. 2d 1054, 1060-61 (Fla. 2007).

The postconviction court granted Merck an evidentiary hearing on this claim, and after hearing the evidence, the court denied the claim and found that Merck had failed to deficient performance and prejudice. (PCR V3:312-15). court noted that counsel did not perform deficiently because Schwartzberg argued extensively to the trial judge that he should be allowed to admit this evidence before the jury, but the court denied his request and specifically precluded him from introducing this evidence. Merck next claims that counsel was ineffective when he failed to proffer the evidence that the court had previously ruled was inadmissible after he informed the court of his intention to proffer such evidence. The postconviction court found Merck's interpretation "flawed and illogical." As the court noted, although "undoubtedly unclear," charge conference counsel's statements at the cannot construed to mean that counsel intended to proffer additional evidence because all the evidence had already been presented at

that time and counsel's comments indicated that he was aware the court would not allow a proffer.

In addition to failing to establish deficient performance, the postconviction court also found that Merck failed establish prejudice. Merck argues that, had counsel proffered the evidence and preserved it for appellate review, this Court would have reversed for a new penalty phase. As the lower court properly found, Merck's argument is without merit. noted that the majority of the allegedly excluded evidence was actually admitted to the jury. See Merck, 975 So. 2d at 1061-62. As to the excluded evidence which was not proffered or presented to the jury, Henry Brommelsick's fingerprint analysis and Katherine Sullivan's description of the clothing worn by the killer, trial counsel's failure to proffer this evidence did not prejudice Merck in any way as this Court has consistently held that lingering doubt is inadmissible at the penalty phase.

Even if this Court were to consider this inadmissible lingering doubt evidence, a review of the excluded evidence establishes that there is no question as to Merck's guilt or participation in this murder. Henry Brommelsick, a fingerprint analyst, testified at the postconviction evidentiary hearing that Neil Thomas' fingerprints were found on the driver's side exterior window, on the exterior of the passenger side's roof

and window, and on the rear hatch glass. Merck's fingerprints were also found at numerous places on the exterior of the passenger side of the car, including the roof, but none of Merck's prints were found on the driver's side of the car. Brommelsick's testimony did not refute in any manner eyewitness testimony establishing that Merck committed the instant murder. Likewise, Katherine Sullivan's description of the killer's pants did not call into question her out-of-court and in-court identification of Merck as the killer 11 or the other substantial evidence establishing Merck's guilt. All of the evidence excluded from the resentencing proceedings was admitted at Merck's quilt phase in 1993, and the jury found that Merck committed the murder beyond a reasonable doubt. Because Merck failed to establish that his penalty phase counsel performed deficiently by failing to proffer this evidence and that he was prejudiced by this alleged deficiency, this Court should deny the instant claim.

¹¹ Katherine Sullivan's identification of Merck focused on the relative height and size differences between Merck and Thomas, their different hair styles, the fact that Thomas was wearing a black shirt and Merck was wearing a light pink, long-sleeved dress shirt, Merck's droopy or "buggy" eyes, his Southern accent, and her over-hearing the killer referred to as "Troy." (DAR V22:420-49).

ISSUE IV

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS VIOLATED WHEN LAW ENFORCEMENT FAILED TO PRESERVE ALLEGEDLY EXCLUPATORY EVIDENCE DURING THE SEARCH OF THE VEHICLE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Merck asserts that law enforcement's failure to preserve a shirt and pair of khaki pants found during the search of the vehicle abandoned by Merck and Thomas was a bad-faith failure to preserve exculpatory evidence in violation of his due process See Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988) rights. ("Unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law."). postconviction summarily denied the instant claim as one that could have been, and actually was, raised on direct appeal. (PCR V3:303-05). The court noted that the instant issue was and rejected on direct appeal following Merck's raised conviction and sentence of death in 1993. In Merck v. State, 664 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 1995) (emphasis added), this Court stated:

In Issue 4, Merck asserts that the failure on the part of Detective Nestor to keep as evidence a pair of khaki pants located during the search of the vehicle abandoned by Merck and his companion after the murder, was a bad-faith failure to preserve potentially exculpatory evidence, resulting in a denial of due process. In examining the items found in the vehicle, Detective Nestor meticulously looked at every item

found in the car, and a videotape was made of the search. Detective Nestor testified that it was his job as the case agent to determine which of these items had evidentiary value. He retained all items that he determined to have evidentiary value, and he left the other items in the vehicle. The vehicle was thereafter available to be picked up by its registered owner [Merck's brother]. One of the items examined by Detective Nestor was a pair of "baggy khaki colored style pants." Detective Nestor testified that after he examined those pants and found no blood stains on them, he concluded that they did not have evidentiary value and left the pants in the vehicle.

Merck raised this issue in post-trial motions which were acknowledged not to be timely. Merck asserts that the failure to maintain this evidence was fundamental error and, as such, can be raised for the first time post-trial. We do not agree. Here, the failure to preserve the khaki pants was clearly known by Merck prior to and during the trial. The issue was not preserved by timely objection and was not properly the basis for a post-trial attack on the conviction. State v. Matera, 266 So. 2d 661 (Fla.1972).

However, even if there had been presentation of this issue, based upon our review of the record, we conclude that the failure to preserve the khaki pants was not a denial of due process pursuant to Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988), and Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla.1990). There is simply no showing that Detective Nestor acted in bad faith in deciding not to preserve pants which had no blood Merck Moreover, has stack stains. to multiple inferences in order to postulate that the pants were either material or exculpatory. Thus, we find no merit in Merck's fourth issue.

In an effort to avoid the clear procedural bar, Merck alleges that Detective Nestor gave "revised" testimony at Merck's resentencing proceedings in 1997, which this Court and trial counsel did not have the benefit of at the time of Merck's

1993 trial and subsequent appeal. Merck's claim is without merit. As the postconviction court properly found in denying this claim:

Det. Nestor's 1997 testimony did not provide any information that would entitle Merck to relief. It was undisputed since the time of trial that Det. Nestor saw a pair of khaki pants but did not keep them because he did not believe that they had any evidentiary value due to the lack of visible blood. It was also known at the time of trial that Det. Nestor was aware that Sullivan identified the killer as wearing khaki pants. The crux of this information was previously available to Merck and has already been considered.

(PCR V3:305). Because this Court has already rejected this claim, finding that there was no due process violation under Youngblood, and Detective Nestor did not add any new information at Merck's subsequent proceedings, this Court should affirm the lower court's finding that the claim is procedurally barred.

ISSUE V

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY REJECTED MERCK'S CLAIM THAT HIS PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR MAKING THE INFORMED AND STRATEGIC DECISION TO PRESENT THE DEFENSE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT AT THE SPENCER HEARING RATHER THAN BEFORE THE JURY. 12

Collateral counsel asserts that penalty phase counsel was failing to provide sufficient background ineffective for material to his mental health expert and for failing to present the expert's testimony to the jury. Specifically, Merck argues length that penalty phase counsel Schwartzberg at "uninformed" about Dr. Maher's potential testimony and was not prepared to present his testimony to the jury at the penalty Merck speculates that "[w]hen the time came phase. Schwartzberg to do his job; he realized that he had not spoken to Dr. Maher and had no idea what Maher's opinions would be so he got "cold feet" and abdicated his responsibility." Brief of Appellant at 82.

After conducting a hearing on Merck's claim, the postconviction court denied the claim and stated:

Although counsel claims in the heading of this issue that penalty phase counsel was ineffective for failing to provide Dr. Maher with "sufficient background information to establish both statutory and non-statutory mitigation," counsel never identifies any information allegedly not supplied to Dr. Maher, nor does counsel ever discuss this allegation in the argument section of his brief. Accordingly, this sub-claim has been abandoned.

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